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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
FOR THE EASTERN DISTRICT OF NEW YORK

........................ SaCNTOTEEEELELEEREEREY § PLAINTIFE'S
RIVERKEEPER, INC. RDLF CARLE, IAURA MM\ COMPLAINT

MICHAEL HDFFMAN BEBORAH MAST
WILLIAM SCHUCK, TERESA TORO, 2 0 5 6
".E

PlaintifTs,

-against- FE:LFML
. i —
EXXON MOBIL CORPORATION, e UGS, /
¥r
Defendant. : MAY ¢ ﬁzﬂﬂfi *

X BAOOKLYN OFFIGE

COMPLAINT
Riverkeeper Incorporated, Rolf Carle, Laura Hoffman, Michael Hoffiman, Deborah
dasters, William Schuck, and Teresa Toro, by their allorneys, Pace Environmental

Litigation Clinic, Inc., allege for their complaint herein as follows:.

NATURE OF ACTION _
1. This is a citizcn suit, brought under section 505{a)(1) of the Clean Water Act, 33
U.S.C. § 1365(a)(1), and section 7002(a)(1)(B} of the Resource Conservation and
Recovery Act, 42 TL.S.C. § 6972(a)(1W1), for the defendant’s viotations of the

terms and provigions of those Acts by the unpernitted and unlawful discharge of

poliutants into Newlown Creck and the imminent and substantial endangerment

posed by the solid waste spreading under Greenpoint, Brooklyn.

/

JURISDICTION
2. This Court has original jurisdiction over the claims set forth in thhs complaint by
virtuc of sectien 1331 of the Judiciary and Judicial Procedure Act, 28 US.C. §

1331, because thig action arises under the laws of the Tniled States.
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This Court has subject malter jurisdiction over the claims sei forih in this
complaint by virtue of section 505(a) of the Clean Waler Act, 33 US.C. §
1365(a), and section 7002{a) of the Rescurce Conservation and Recovery Act, 42
U.S.C. § 6972(a). |

On or about January 20, 2004, Plaintifts mailed notice of the violations
complained of herein, and of its intent to fils suit, to the Administrator of the
United State Environmentai Protection Ageney (“EPA™), the New York
Department of Environmental Conservation (“DEC™), and to the defendant as
required by section 305(b)(1)(A} of the Clean Waler Act, 33 ULS.C. §
1365(b)(1)AY. More than sixty days have passed sincc notice was served.

On or about January 20, 2004, Plaintiffs mailed notice of the violations
complained of herein, and its intent to file suit, to the Administrator of the United
State Envirommenlal Proteclion Agency (“EFA”), the New York Depariment of
Environmenial Conservation (“DEC™), and to the defendant as required by section
FO0Z{b){Z} A} of the Resource Conservation and Recovery Act, 2 US.C. §
GO7HbH2WA), More than ninety days have passed since notice was served.

The violations complained of herein are ongoing and will continae in the fidure.

7. Neither EPA nor DEC has commenced and didigently prosccuted a court action

10,

under section 505(b)1)(13) of the Clean Water Act, 33 TL5.C. §1365(b) 1B},
which would bar this courl action.

Neither EPA nor DEC has commencced and diligently prosecuted a court action
under section 7002(0)1(2313) or {C) of the Resource Conservation and Recovery
Act, 42 11.8.C. § 6972(b)(2}B), {C}, which would bar this action.

Neither EPA nor DEC has expended response costs with respect to the site of the
violations complained of herein under section’ 104 of the Comprehensive
Environmental Response Cleanup and Liability Act, 42 U.S.C, § 9604, which
would bar this action.

This action is not barred by scction 309{g)(6), 33 U.S.C. § 1319(g)6), becanse
the complaint is filed before the 120" day after service of the Clean Water Act
MNotice Letter of Intent to Sus pursuant to section 309 g)6)B)Xi1) of the Clean
Water Act, 33 TLS.C. § 1319(2)}6)(B)i).
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11. All conditions precedent to filing a citizen suit under section 505 of the Clean
Water Act, 33 U.S5.C. ¢ 1365, and section 7002 of the Resource Conservation and
Recovery Act, 42 ULS.C. § 6972, have been satisfied.

YENUE
12. ¥enue is appropriate in the Hastern District of New York pursuant to section
305(c){1} of the Clean Water Act, 33 U.S8.C. § 1365(c}(1), and section 7002(a} of
the Resource Conservation and Recovery Act, 42 U.S.C. § 6972(a), because the

source of the violations complained of is localed within the district.

PARTIES

13. Plaintiff Riverkeepet Incorporated sucs on behalf of its supporting members.
Riverkeeper is 2 non-profil corporation, organized under the 1aw of the State of
New Yoik. Riverkcepor and its 5,000 supporting meinbers are dedicated to
congerve, protect, and restore the Hudson River, New York Harbor, East River,
Long Island Seund, and connceted bays, tnbutaries, and watersheds, which
includes Newtown Creek.  Riverkeeper is a “person™ for the purpose of the
cihzen suit provisions of seclions 505 and 502(5) of the Clean Water Aci, 33
U.S.C. §§ 1305, 1362(5}, and sections 1004{15) and 7002(a) of the Resource
Conservation and Recovery Act, 42 U.S.C. §§ 6903(15), 6972(a). Some
supporting members of Riverkeeper live near Newtown Creek and would enjoy
the use of the creek were it not for Defendant’s discharge of pollutants into
Newtown Creck. The pelrolemn discharge leaves an oily sheen on Newtown

Creel’s surface, it cmits a pelroleum smell in the area, and the petroteum spill has

affccted property values. Petrolenm products have permeated the soil and
groundwater, posing an immincnt aud substantial endangerment to humans and
wildlife living in Greenpoint, Brooklyn, New Yﬂ.rk, The mtercst of the
Riverkeeper’s supporting members are being, and will continue to be, adversely

affected by the Defendant’s failure to comply with the requirements of the Clean

Water Act and the Resource Conscrvation and Recovery Act.
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14. Rolf Carle is a resident of Greenpoint, Brooklyn, New Yerk. Newtown Créek’s
degraded condition impairs Mr, Carle’s usc and enjoyment of the Creek, and he is

~ offended by the oily sheen and petroleum smell of the Creek.

15. Plaintiff Laura [foffman is a resident of Greenpoint, Brooklyn, New York.
Newtown Creek’s degraded condittion impairs Ms. Hoffinan’s use and enjoyment
of the Creek, and she is offended by the oily sheen and petroleum smieli of the
Creek.

16. Plaintiff Michael Hoffiman is a resident of Greenpoint, Brooklyn, New York.
Newlown Creek’s degraded condilion nnpairs Mr. Ho{Tman's use and enjoyment
of the Cresk, and he is offended by the oily sheen and petroleum smell of the
Creek,

17. Plainti [T Deborah Masters is a resident of Willaimsbure, and she works in
Greenpoint, Brooklyn, New York. Newtown Creek’s degraded condition impairs
Ms. Masters” use and enjoyment of the Creek, and she is offended by the oily
sheen and petroloum smell of the Creek.

18. Plaintiff William Schuck lives on the shores of Newtown Creek. Newitown
Creck’s degraded condition impairs Mr. Schuck’s use and cojoyment of the
Creek, and he is offended by the oily sheen and petroleum smell of the Creek.

1% Teresa Toro is a resident of Greenpoint, Brooklyn, New York, Newtown Creek’s
degraded condition impairs Ms. Toro’s use and enjoyment of the Creek, and she
is offended by the oily sheen and potrolcum smell of the Creek.

20. The guality of Newtown Creek divectly and adverscly affects the recreational,

aesthetic, economic, environmental, and health interests of the Plaintiffs. The

Plaintifts have been, are being, and will continue to be adversely affected by the
Defendant’s illegal and unpermitled discharges into Newtown Creek and the
spread of pollutants under Plainiiff supporting members’ property.

21. Defendant Exxon Mobil Corporation is a publicly held corporation organized
undcr the Jaws of the State of New Jersey. Mobil Oil Corporation was the owner
of a petroleum [acility located at 300 North Henry Street, Brooklyn, New York,

and it owned and operated a refinery located between Greenpoint and Norman

Avenues, Brooklyn, New York, before 1968, Exxon Mobil Corporation is the
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corporate successor of Mobil Oil Corporation, after the two companies meiged in
1999, Exxon Mobil Corporation continues o own and operate the North Henry
Street Facilily. Over a peniod of several years before 1968, the refinery released
approximately 17 miltion gallons of petroleum products from leaking tanks and
pipelines. The pelroleun: products have spread over approximately 55 acres
underground and are seeping into Newtown Creek. Exxen Mobil continues to
operate a remediation system in the Greenpoint area which continues to affect the
direction of flow of the petroleum products in the $0il, and which includes the
containment boom on Newtown Creek through which petroleum products are

released to the Crecle

BACKGROUND
22. Section 301(a) of the Clean Waler Act, 33 U.8.C. § 1311(2), prohibits the

discharge of pollutants from a point source, into walers of the United States,
vntess such ﬂischarge 13 in comphance with specified portions of the Act.
Drischarzes not authorized by, or in violation of the terms of a National Poliutant
Dischaxge Elimination System (“NPDES”) permit, or a State Poltutant
Llimination System {“SPDES™) permit, arc prohibited.

23. Under sections 402(a) and (b) of the Act, 33 U.S.C. §§ 1342(a) and (b}, the
Admistrator of the EPA has authorized the New York DEC te implement a
NPDES/SPDES permit program.

24, Section 505 of the Clean Waler Act, 33 TLS.C. § 1365, authorizes a citizen suit to
cnforee the provisions of section 301, 33 U.S,C. § 1311.

25. Section 7002(a}{1)(B), 42 U.8.C. § 6972(a){1)(B), of the Resource Conservation

and Recovery Act permits any person to commence a civil aclion against any

person who has contributed or 1s contributing to the past or present handling,
storage, treatment, transportation, or disposal of any sokid or hazardous waste

which may present an imminent and substantial endangerment to health or the

environment.
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26, Defendant Exxon Mobil Corporation owned and operated an oil refinery in
Greenpoint, Brooklyn, New York, from at least 1950 from which an explosion
and a scries of leaks and spills released approximately 17 million gallons of
petroleum products into the underlying soils and aquifer.

27. The former Mobil refinery occupled the entire arca cast of Kingsland Avenue
between Greenpoint Avenue south to Nonman Avenuc,  This refinery, with a
capacily of 31,000 banels per day, produced solvenls, gasoline, keroscne, fuel vil
and refinery oil. Naptha, gasoline, gas oil and fuel il and possibly other
petroleum products were stored at this refinery.

. 28. The petreleum plume now extends from Norman Avenuc where an Exxon Mobit
facility now owned by BP Amoco Corporation was located before 1969, south of
Mecker Avenue, and east of Bridgewater Street, and to the banks of Newtown
Creeld. This plume covers approximately 553 acres.

22, The pelrolewn product discharge potentially includes, but is not limitcd to, the
following constiluents: benzene and benzo(a)pyrene; benz(a)anthracene;
indeno(1,2,3-cd)pyrens; dibenz(a,h)anthracenc; chrysene; benzo(b)fluoranthene;
and benzo(k)fluoranthene; MTBE; and lead.

30. Exxon Mobil’s petrolcum products fiow through fissures of the bulkhead
constrncted along {he creek on the property located at 42-44 Bridgewater Street,
mto the creck water, through sections of the contaimment boom that floats in front
of the wall and mto Newtown Creck. Neither Exxon Mobil nor any other peron
has a Clean Water Acl pennit for this discharge of petroleum products through the
bulkhead.

FIRST CLAIM: CLEAN WATER ACT

31. Plaintiff’s supporting members and co-plaintiffs include residents of the

Greenpoint Coitmunity who live and recreate near Newtown Creek, and some
supporiing members ewn property near Newlown Creek whose market value may

be affected hy the pollution in Newtown Creck.

6
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32. The fissures in the bulkhead and the gaps between the seclions of the containment
boom are both “peint sources” within the meanmg of section 502{14) of ihe
Clean Water Act, 33 U.5.C. § 1362(14).

33. The discharge through the fissurcs and gaps containg petrolewm products.

34, Petroleum products are a “poliutant” within the meaning of section 502(6) of the
Clean Water Act, 33 T1.S.C. § 1362(6).

35. The petroleum product discharge causcs an oily sheen on Newtown Creek and
causes the area to smell of petraleunt.

36. The constituents present in the petroleum product discharge have been shiown to
cause harm to aguatic life.

37. New York DEC has designated Newtown Creek as class ST3, which prohibits the
addition of petroleum products in amounts that canse a visible sheen.

38, The petroleum discharge violates water quality standards for petrolenm product
discharges in Newtown Creck.

39. The petroleum product discharge 15 seeping through a point source into navigable
waters without a NPDES/SPDES permit.

4. Defendant Exxon Mobil has neither applied for, nor been granted, a
NPDES/SPDES penmit for the discharge ol pelrolewn products into Newtown
Crock.

41. Newtown Creek is a "navigable water” of the United Statcs within the meusning of
section 302(7) of the Clean Water Act, 33 U.S.C. § 1362(7).

42, The petroleum product discharee enters navigable waler when it discharges
through the fissurcs in the bulkhead and into Newtown Creck.

43. Some of the petrolewn product discharge escapes from the containment boom,
traveling with the tide of Newtown Creek and its teibutaries. Newtown Creek is a
tidal waterway, its cbb and fow dependent on the East River, which, in ium,
flows into to the Hudson River and into New York Ilabor.

44, The (dal nature of Newtown Creek causes pollutants to travel quickly and for

great distances, hanning the biological, physical, and chemical integrity of the

navigablc waters in the area affected by the tide.
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45.

46,

47,

48.

04,

03.

3.

49,

The petroleum product discharge tnto Newlown Creek is the “addition” of a
pollutant within the meaning of section 502{12) of the Clean Water Act, 33
US.C.§ 1362(13).

Defendant Exxon Mobil has violated and will conlinue to violate “an effluent
standard or mitation™ under scetion 305(a)(1)(A) of the Act, 33 U.S.C. §
1365(a)(1){A), because of its illegal and unpermilied discharges from the

bulkhead and containment boom into Newtown Creck.

FIRST CLAIM FOR. RELIEF

Defendant’s discharges of pollutants into Newtown Creck are illegal and
unpennitted discharges within the meaning of section 301(a) of the Clean Water
Act, 33 ULS.C. § 1311(a}.

Defondant Exxen Mobil has not applied for, ner been granted, a pennit pursuant
to section 402 of the Clean Water Act, 33 U.5.C. § 1342, from the EPA or the
DEC for the petroleum preduct discharges from the bulkhead and containment
boom inio Newtown Creek.

Defendant’s violations are ongoing.

SECOND CTAIM:
RESQURCE CONSERVATION AND RECOVERY ACT
Petroleum is & “salid waste” within the meaning of §1004(27) of the Resource
Congervalion and Recovery Act, 42 U.5.C. §6903(27). A “solid waste” includes

a liquid that results from indusirtal, commercial, mining and agricitltural
operations.

Peiroleum is a “hazardeus wastce™ within the meamng of § 1004(5) of the
Resource Conservation and Recovery Act, 42 US.C.A OHU3(5).

The cxplosions, leaks, releases and spills of potrolcum products from Mobil's

Greenpeint facility over the years constitute an improper “disposal” within the

meamng of section 1004(3) of the Resource Conservation and Recovery Act, 42
U.5.C. § 6903(3).




Case 1:04-cv-02056-'-RML Document1  Filed 05/‘004 Page 9 of 13

59. BExxon Mobil Corporation 15 a past owner and operator of a solid waste disposal
[acility wilhin ihe meaning of section 7002(a) 1 WB) of the Resource Conservation
and Recovery Act, 42 U.S.C. § 6792{a)1)WB).

60. Petroleum flows through fissures in the bulkhead located on the property al 42-44
Bridgewater Street into Newtown Cregk. Petroloum Mows through sections of the
containment boom and into the middle of Newtown Creck.

66, Petroleum products cause an increasc in mortahly and an increase in scrious
irrevetsible or incapacitating reversible illness within the meaning of § 1004(5) of
the Resource Conservalion and Recovery Act, 42 (L8.C. §65903(5).

67. The presence of petroleum products in the environment presents mn imminent and
substantial endangerment to the healih of persons and wildlife and to the
envirgnment,

07. The prescnee of petroleum products is & significant cadangerment to wildlife and
wildlife habitat in the arca. The ingestion of petroleum can cause disruption in
normal internal organ function.

68. A single drop of 01l on a bird egg can causc mortality and developmental defcets
in affceted cmbryos. When birds are exposed to petrolcum products on their
feathers, the feathers are unable to trap air and repel water. This causes
hypolhermia, the mability to fly and cventually, death. Petroleum products can
cause other physiological problems when ingested or absorbed through the skin.

69, Large quantitics of petroleum products can result in the death of fish. For fish,
the presence of petrolevm products cven in small eoncentrations resuits in
changes in growth, feeding, fertility and survival ratcs and displacement.

08. Chemical migration is ocewrring through the groundwater. The groundwaier
generally travels through this area via two aquifor zones lowards Newtown Creck.
The aquifer zones are imterconnected.

69. The Brooklyn-Qucens aquiler is an unlapped resource that cannot be nused due to
the continued contamination caused by the presence of petroleum products,

71. The petrolewm product discharge contains benzene, a known carcinogen.

72. The presence of underground petroicum produets can cause petroleum vapoers.
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73. Pctroleum vapors may cause an ibnninent and substantial endangerment to the
health and environment within the meaning ol §7002{a)(1){B) of the Resource
Conscrvation and Recovery Acl, 42 11.5.C. §6792(2)(1){B).

74. The breakdown of underground petroleum causcs methane gases to ocour. These

~ gasses accumulatc in confined siructures, such as homes and commaercial
buildings, resulting in potentially explosive conditions.

75. The potentially explosive conditions arc an imminent and substantial
endangerment to the health and environment within the meaning of
§7002{a}( 1){B} of the Resource Conservation and Recovery Act, 42 US.C,
$6792(a)(1)(R).

SECOND CLAIM FOR RELIEF

50. The underground petroleum product plume is an imminent and substantial

etdangeriment to the environment in that the hi gh levels of hazardous wastes in
the soil pose a significant threat to human beings, to Newtown Creek and to the
fish, birds and other wildbfe in and around the river.

51. As a rcsult of the improper storage and/or disposal of hazavdous wastes from the
former Exxon Mobil site, groundwater has been contaminated. The contaminated
groundwater flows to Newtown Creek, which is part of the Hudson csluary.

52, Contaminated groundwaler discharges into Newtown Creek pose 4 threat to
human beings and wildlife that live and reereate near ihe creek.

34. Exxon Mobil has contributed to the past and present handling, storage and/or
dispasal of hazardous waste as defined by the Resource Conservalion and
Recovery Act § 1004, 42 U.S.C. § 6903 and 40 CF.R. §§ 261.2, 261.3.

56. As a past and present owner or operator, under the Resource Conscrvation and

Recovery Act 7002{a)(i1 )}(B), 42 TU.S.C. § 6972(a}1)(B}, Defendani is liable for

10
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conditions on their present or formerly owned property that present an immincnt
and substantial endangerment to the health or the environment.

RELIEF RELOLUESTED

Wherefore, Plaintiifs respectfully request this court to grant the following reliefl:

A, Declare Detendant to have violated, and to be in violation of section
301 of the Clean Water Act, 33 U.S.C. § 1311,

B. Require the Defendant to repair or replace the leaking butkhead and
containment boon: to eliminate the fissures and gaps in order to prevent
the discharge of petroleum into Newtown Creek.

C. Require the Defendant to obtain NPDES/SPDES permits in compliance
with section 301(a) of the Clean Water Act, 33 U.S.C. § 1311(a) to be
effective until an yimpenneable bulkhead and containment boom arc
construeted.

D. Requirc Defendant to take such measuies necessary to minimize or
eliminatc the pollutants from discharging through the bulkhead and
containment boom during the construction of an impermeable
bmlkiead.

L. Compel Defendant to remediate all damage to the enviromment because
of their illegal and unpermitted discharges.

F. Qrder Defendant, pursuant lo section 309{d) of the Clean Watcr Act, 33
U.S.C. § 1319(d), to pay $27,500 per day for each illegal discharge
prior to March 15, 2004 and $32.500 per day for each day of violation
thereafter.

3. Declare the Defendant Exxon Mobil, as past owner and operator of a
facility that disposed of solid waste, iiable for the imminent and
substantial endangerment lo Newtownt Creek and to the Hudson River
cstnary and the swrrounding land created by the conimmination on the
Site.

B, Compel Defendant to eliminate health hazards and minimize potential

health effects by the contamination of the siie.

11
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L Compel Defendant to eliminate all damage to the environnient caused
by ils activities at the site.

I Compel Defendant to repair the damage to the land of the former
Exxon Mabil site and its surrounds and to Newlown Creck as part of
the Hudson River estuary.

K. Award Plamtiffs’ eosts including reasonable attorney, wilness, and
consultation fces, as authonized by section 505(d) of the Clcan Water
Act, 33 U.S.C. § 1365(d), and section 7002(e)} of the Resource
Conservalion and Recovery Act, 42 U.8.C. §6972(e).

L. Award such other relief as this court deems just and propet.

Daled: Winte Plains, NY
May 18, 2004
Respectfilly sub

Karl Coplan (KC3877)
Attorney for Plaintiffs

Pace Environmental Litigation
Clinic, Inc. _

78 North Broadway

White Plaing, NY 10603

[ B

Kifstin Etela

Legal Intern

Pace Environmental Liligation
Clinic, Ine.

7% North Broadway

White Plains, NY 10603
Megad.doplin

Legal Intern

Pace Environmental Litigation
Clinig, Inc.

78 North Broadway

White Plains, NY 10603
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Ce:

John Asheroft

U.5. Attorney General
Dcpartment of Justice

950 Pennaylvania Avenuc, N.W.
Washington, D.C. 20530

Michael Leavitt

.S, Environmental Protection Agency [leadquarters
Matl Code 1101-A

1200 Pemmsylvama Avenue, N.W.

Washinglon DD.C, 20460

Jane Kemny

U.S. Environmental Protection Agency, Region 11
290 Broadway

MNew York, NY 12233

Erin Crotlly

New York State Pepariment of Environmenial Conservation
625 Broadway

Albany, Now Yorl 12233

Thomas Kunkel
New York State Depariment of Environmentat Conscrvation, Region [1
1 iTunter's Point Plaza
47-40 21" Street
- Long Island City, NY 11101
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